

Constitution of the International Kyudo Federation

International Kyudo Federation

Constitution of the International Kyudo Federation

Chapter 1. General Rule

Name

Article 1. The name of the federation shall be “Kokusai Kyudo Renmei” (abbreviated as “Kokusai Kyuren”).

In English, it shall be “International Kyudo Federation (abbreviated as “IKYF”).

Constitution

Article 2. IKYF shall consist of national governing bodies which solely represent their countries (hereinafter referred to as “Member Organization”).

Location

Article 3. The secretariat of IKYF shall be located in the Metropolis of Tokyo, Japan.

Official languages

Article 4. Official languages used by IKYF shall be Japanese and English. Japanese shall be used for technical terms.

In the event that there are any differences between the Japanese and English versions, the Japanese version(s) shall take precedence.

Characteristics

Article 5. IKYF shall be a nonpolitical organization which consists of kyudo enthusiasts, and no discrimination will be allowed based on race, religion, gender, belief or any other factors.

Chapter 2. Objectives and Activities

Objectives

Article 6. Through kyudo, as a part of traditional Japanese culture, IKYF shall endeavor to promote the forming of character through the pursuit of the highest ideals of kyudo (Shin (truth), Zen (goodness) and Bi (beauty). Further to this, IKYF shall contribute to the worldwide promotion of kyudo and the establishment of a peaceful society, and to the cultivation of trust and friendship among its Member Organizations.

Activities

Article 7. IKYF shall carry out the following activities to achieve the objectives and purposes mentioned in the previous article:

- (1) Establish international rules of competition for kyudo
- (2) Organize the world kyudo championships
- (3) Support the popularization and promotion of kyudo in each country
- (4) Assist in the development of kyudo federations in each country
- (5) Provide the organization and assistance for seminars and workshops
- (6) Provide the exchange of information on equipment and technical matters, as well as instruction manuals and the publication of kyudo magazines
- (7) Promote examinations conducted by the All Nippon Kyudo Federation (abbreviated as “ANKF”)
- (8) Develop and operate other necessary matters in order to achieve the aims and objectives mentioned in the previous article

Chapter 3. Membership, Withdrawal of Membership, and Expulsion

Requirements for Membership

Article 8. An organization intending to make an application for membership to the IKYF must meet the requirements of Article 1 of the detailed regulations relating to membership and expulsion that are set down separately and annexed to this document as Appendix 1.

Application for Membership

Article 9. Application shall proceed according to the detailed regulations set down separately and annexed to this document as Appendix 1.

Adjudication of Membership Applications

Article 10. When the IKYF has received the application, following the procedure as specified in the previous article, the organization that has applied for membership (hereinafter referred to as “Applicant Organization”) shall be investigated and screened, and then the Board of Directors shall determine if the application shall be approved.

2. The decision made by the Board of Directors according to the above shall be reported to the General Assembly Meeting, at the first opportunity after the decision for its approval.

Registration to Member Organization

Article 11. An individual who is registered with a Member Organization of the IKYF cannot register with more than one member organization. In the case where an individual wishes to join a member federation other than the one of their country of residence, this must be done with the mutual agreement of both federations concerned.

Procedures for Withdrawal from Membership

Article 12. In the case that a Member Organization wishes to withdraw from membership, it shall notify the IKYU in writing.

2. From the date that notification is received by the IKYF, the Member Organization shall be regarded

as having withdrawn from IKYF. Such a withdrawal shall be reported at the first opportunity to the Board of Directors' Meeting and the General Assembly Meeting.

3. The membership fee is not refundable for any reasons.

Claims for Expulsion

Article 13. In the case that a Member Organization is subject to a claim for expulsion, for any reason as specified in the detailed regulations, the accusation should be made in writing to the IKYF. The Member Organization shall be given the opportunity to address the accusation(s) and to make representations to the Board of Directors' Meeting as to why they should not be expelled.

Considerations for Expulsion

Article 14. In the case that IKYF accepts a claim for expulsion as specified in the above article, it shall immediately examine the actual conditions, and discuss the subject expulsion at the Board of Directors' Meeting to make a final decision.

2. Where a case for expulsion has been determined based on the previous article, the result shall be reported to the General Assembly Meeting, at the first opportunity, and approved by a two-thirds majority vote.

Chapter 4. Organizational Body

Constitution of the General Assembly

Article 15. The General Assembly shall consist of Directors, Auditors, representatives of Member Organizations and the persons entrusted by the President of member organizations and the chair of the General Assembly Meetings shall be the President of the IKYF or the person appointed by the President. Honorary Board Members may attend the General Assembly Meetings.

Organization of the General Assembly Meeting

Article 16. The General Assembly Meeting shall be held once in every two years.

2. The General Assembly Meetings shall be held in Japan, where the secretariat is located. In the case there is a special request, the Board of Directors shall determine the venue of the meeting.
3. The General Assembly Meeting may be held by E-mails, when the President decides the Meeting is urgently needed.

Validation of The General Assembly Meetings

Article 17. The General Assembly Meetings shall be regarded as valid by the attendance of the majority of Directors and representatives of Member Organizations. However, Honorary Board Members and Auditors are not included in the quorum.

2. In the case that the representative of a Member Organization shall be absent, the attendance of a

substitute representative shall be entrusted by the President of the said that Member Organization.

3. Decisions of the General Meeting shall be made by the majority of members present with rights to vote, and the President has a casting vote when votes for and against are the same number.

Each Director and each representative of Member Organizations has only the right to one vote.

General Assembly

Article 18. The General Assembly is the supreme decision-making body of IKYF, and considers the following:

- (1) Amendment of the Constitution
- (2) Plan activities
- (3) Budget and account settlement
- (4) Selection of Directors and Auditors
- (5) Membership and expulsion
- (6) Other important matters

Organization of Extraordinary General Assembly Meetings

Article 19. An Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting may be held at the request of the President of IKYF by a written request of more than third of the Directors.

Member Organizations shall be informed of the Meeting at least two months prior to the Meeting together with its agenda.

2. The Extraordinary General Assembly Meetings may be held by E-mails, when the President decides the Meeting is urgently needed.

Constitution of Board of Directors

Article 20. Board of Directors shall consist of Directors, and the President shall be the Chairman.

Organization of Board of Directors' Meetings

Article 21. Board of Directors shall organize one Ordinary Board of Directors' Meeting a year by the initiative of the President, and may organize Extraordinary Board of Directors' Meetings as appropriate.

2. The President shall call Board of Directors' Meetings by the request of a majority of members of the Board.

3. Board of Directors may adopt a resolution by the examination of documents or by discussion using E-mails only with the prior approval of the majority of members, and it shall report to the Board of Directors' Meeting, at the first opportunity, on the process and outcome of such a resolution.

4. Board of Directors' Meetings may be held by E-mails when the President decides the Meeting is urgently needed.

Validation of the Board of Directors' Meeting

Article 22. The Board of Directors' Meeting shall be regarded as valid by the attendance of the majority of Directors.

2. Items shall be approved by the majority of votes by attendance, and the President has a casting vote when votes for and against are the same number.
3. Members of the Board of Directors may not send substitutes to the meeting. However, absentees may express his or her opinion by written documents or E-mails.

Board of Directors

Article 23. Board of Directors shall discuss the following items:

- (1) Amendment of the Constitution
- (2) Plan activities
- (3) Budget and account settlement
- (4) Selection of board members
- (5) Membership and expulsion
- (6) Other important matters

2. The Board of Directors may resolve urgent items by itself, however, it shall report to the General Assembly, at the first opportunity, on the process and outcome of such a resolution.

Committees

Article 24. Committees may be established in order to perform the objectives of the IKYF.

Establishment of Committees

Article 25. Establishment of committees and other matters necessary for the committees require the approval of the Board of Directors.

Chapter 5. Officers

Officers

Article 26. IKYF shall have the following officers:

- | | |
|----------------|--|
| President | - 1 person |
| Vice President | - up to 3 persons |
| Directors | - up to 20 persons (excluding the President and Vice Presidents) |
| Auditors | - 2 persons |

Selection of Officers

Article 27. The President shall be recommended nominated by the Board of Directors at the Board of Directors' Meeting and shall be approved at the General Assembly Meeting. The Vice President(s) shall be elected among Directors. The President shall be a Director upon his or her appointment
Directors other than the President shall consist of the following:

- (1) Persons recommended by member countries:
7 persons from Japan, 3 persons from Europe, 2 persons from the United States and 1 person

- from Asia and Oceania
- (2) 3 persons recommended by the President
- (3) A few academic experts recommended by the President

Auditors should be nominated at the Board of Directors' Meeting, and approved at the General Assembly Meeting.

Auditors shall not hold additional posts.

Honorary Board Members

Article 28. IKYF shall have the following honorary posts. Honorary Board Members (contributors to kyudo and academic experts) shall be selected by the Board of Directors' Meeting and with the approval of the General Assembly Meeting.

- (1) Honorary President
- (2) Honorary Chairman
- (3) Counselors
- (4) Advisers

Persons with honorary posts may be consulted by the President, and express their opinions related to the operation of IKYF.

Assignment of Officers

Article 29. Duties of officers are as follows:

- (1) President represents and takes charge of IKYF.
- (2) Vice President(s) shall assist the President, and act for him or her according to the procedures specified by the President in case that he or she is not able to perform his or her duties.
- (3) Directors shall perform their duties as members of the Board of Directors.
- (4) Auditors shall inspect the accounting of IKYF and other operations related to its accounting, and shall prepare audit reports, and then shall submit them to the General Assembly Meeting.

Term of Office and Replacement of Officers

Article 30.

- (1) Term of office is four years for all officers, and they can be re-elected.
- (2) In case officers are not able to perform their duties because of death or illness, the President of the IKYF shall confer with the Board of Directors for the assignment of successors.
- (3) Successors of Directors are recommended by Member Organizations, and shall be representatives of the same Member Organizations as the subject directors belonged to and persons recommended by the President of that Member Organization. The term of office for successors shall be the remaining period left in the term vacated by their immediate predecessor.
- (4) Officers may continue to take on assignments until the inauguration of their successors even after the termination of their term of office.

Renewal of Officers

Article 31. President and Vice President(s) may not be re-elected before the end of their 4-year term of office is finished. In the case that a Vice President is nominated by the President, he or she is exempt from the above provision.

Chapter 6. Finance and accounting

Financial Resources

Article 32. IKYF may seek any additional financial resources in order to perform its objectives, and this must be reported to the Board of Directors.

Accounting

Article 33. Admission fees, annual membership fees, donations or any other revenues shall be used for the operational costs of IKYF.

Admission Fees and Annual Membership Fees

Article 34. The amounts shall be determined at the General Assembly Meeting, and the payment methods shall be determined according to the detailed regulations set down separately and annexed to this document as Appendix 1.

2. In the case that any Member Organization fails to pay its membership fees for a year or over without reasonable cause, the participation of the Member Organization and its members to any world championships, seminars or workshops may be suspended by a decision of the Board of Directors' Meeting.

Fiscal Year

Article 35. The fiscal year for IKYF shall begin on April 1st and end on March 31st of the next year.

2. Business reports and accounting shall be subject to audit within three months after the end of each fiscal year, and the President shall report to the Ordinary Board of Directors' Meeting, and make an announcement to Member Organizations.

3. Financial reports approved at the Ordinary Board of Directors' Meeting shall be submitted to the Ordinary General Assembly in totality for its approval.

Chapter 7. Amateurism

Amateurism

Article 36. Members of IKYF must not use kyudo for political or commercial purposes in any form. Details are determined by separate regulations of the IKYF on amateurism and annexed to this document as Appendix 2.

Chapter 8. Environment

Environment

Article 37. IKYF shall strive to enhance sport and the environment.

It shall focus its efforts on recycling activities including recycling of sporting goods, environmental protection by using sporting facilities with ingenuity, promoting activities to avoid the deterioration of the environment, and prioritize the preservation of the global environment.

Chapter 9. Change of the Constitution and Dissolution of IKYF

Changes and Abolishment of the Constitution

Article 38. Changes and abolishment of the Constitution shall be regarded as valid by the approval of two thirds or more of the attendance at the General Assembly Meeting.

The Board of Directors may resolve urgent changes, however, and it shall report to the General Assembly held immediately after such a resolution on its decision for its final approval.

Dissolution

Article 39. Dissolution and closure of IKYF shall be regarded as valid by the approval of two thirds or more of Member Organizations, and its assets and fund shall be divided xxxxx among Member Organizations.

Chapter 10. Special Clause

Change of objectives and purposes

Article 40. Change of objectives and activities in Article 6 requires a unanimous vote by the members of the General Assembly.

Additional Clause

1. World kyudo championships shall be organized every four years.
Venues, dates and organizing bodies shall be determined by the General Assembly Meeting, and drafts of guidelines for competitions and budgets shall be made by the organizing body, and determined through the Board of Directors' Meeting.
2. Rules for kyudo competitions, examinations, and regulations for Member Organizations and their members and other matters which are not specified in this Constitution shall be pursuant to the rules specified by ANKF.
3. This Constitution shall be effective as of May 2nd, 2006.
4. July 24th amendment in 2012

Appendix 1

Detailed Regulations related to Membership and Expulsion from the IKYF

Requirements for Application for Membership

Article 1. “One national governing body per country” prescribed in Article 2 of the Constitution of the International Kyudo Federation (hereinafter referred to as “the Constitution”) shall be decided pursuant to means a body which is described in the Olympic Charter, if there are plural governing bodies in one country because of its historical background.

Article 2. Article 8 of the Constitution specifies the conditions as follows:

- (1) The organization must have registered members, who are currently taking part in kyudo activities.
- (2) The organization must have appropriate instructors (shidosha).
- (3) The organization must have financial basis for the payment of the annual membership fees to IKYF and be able to promote participation in the International Kyudo Championships.
- (4) The organization applying for membership of IKYF must, however, be associated with an appropriate regional federation (association) authorized by IKYF prior to its application. If there is no regional association in existence at the time of application, the group making the application for membership (to IKYF) is obliged to join the regional federation (association) when it founds.

Procedures for Application for Membership

Article 3. “detailed regulations” specified in Article 9 of the Constitution means the submission of the following documents:

- (1) Application form for membership (required)
- (2) Letters of recommendation from two Member Organizations (required)
- (3) Constitution of the organization (required)
- (4) List of registered members (required)
- (5) Other reference material for the consideration of membership (voluntary)

Deadline for Application of Membership

Article 4. Organizations which seek the approval for its membership at the General Assembly Meeting shall submit the above-mentioned documents at least 6 months before the next General Assembly Meeting.

Items for Consideration Related to the Application of Membership

Article 5. Following Article 10 of the Constitution the IKYF shall investigate and screen the Applicant Organization on the following items, and report to the Board of Directors.

- (1) Establishment and organization
- (2) Officers
- (3) Constitution
- (4) Financial conditions
- (5) Number of registered members, grade holders and number of shogo holders
- (6) Status on its activities including practice of kyudo
- (7) Participation in and organization of competitions and workshops
- (8) Instructors (shidosha)
- (9) Recognition of the Applicant Organization in their country (relation with public organizations)

If necessary, an interview with the representative of the Application Organization may be included in the investigation.

Payment Method of Admission Fees and Annual Membership Fees

Article 6. The organization whose membership is approved according to Article 10 of the Constitution shall pay the admission fees and annual membership fees by the end of the financial year based on Article 34 of the Constitution.

- (1) According to the directive of the IKYF, admission fees shall be paid to IKYF by the end of December of the first year of membership.

*Admission Fee	Number of registered members
10,000JPY	Under 50
20,000JPY	51 to 100
30,000JPY	Over 101

- (2) Annual membership fees shall be paid to IKYF by new Member Organizations and Member Organizations by the end of each December.

*Annual Membership Fee	Number of registered members
10,000JPY	Under 50
20,000JPY	51 to 100
30,000JPY	Over 101

Reasons for Expulsion

Article 7. Cause for expulsion specified in Article 13 of the Constitution of IKYF shall be the following:

- (1) Default of payment of annual membership fees for one year or more consecutive years without reasonable cause.
- (2) Insufficient activities related to instruction and promotion of kyudo.
- (3) Violation of the regulations related to amateurism.
- (4) Acts by the subject Member Organization which are significantly against Article 6 of the Constitution of IKYF (objectives and activities)
- (5) Other causes which make the existence of the subject Member Organization inappropriate

Appendix 2

International Kyudo Federation Amateurism Regulations

Objectives

Article 1. This regulation stipulates the requirements of amateurism as specified in Article 36 of the Constitution of the International Kyudo Federation (hereinafter referred to as “the Constitution”).

Member Organizations

Article 2. Member Organizations and their members shall promote the objectives of the Olympic Charter stipulated by the International Olympic Committee (abbreviated as “IOC”) to try and promote and development kyudo competition in a wholesome way.

Members of the Member Organizations

Article 3. Member Organizations of IKYF shall not include the following persons in their membership. Even if such a person has already become their member, the Member Organization may cancel his or her membership in the case that he or she falls under any of the following:

- (1) Persons who allow their names, photos or achievements in competitions for advertisements without approval of the Member Organization they belong to
- (2) Persons who receive material advantage for their preparation or participation in competitions without prior approval by the Member Organization they belong to
- (3) Persons who exchange their awards or supplementary prizes for money
- (4) Persons who participate in competitions that IKYF or the Member Organization they belong to prohibit them from participating in
- (5) Persons who act significantly against the spirit of fair play by doping or through acts of violence during competition
- (6) Persons who received or currently receive money for acting as a kyudo coach
- (7) Persons who use uniforms or kyudo equipment with commercial advertisements or have others use such uniforms or equipment
- (8) Persons who violate the Olympic Charter and wounded their dignity or credit as competitors

Notification of Appearance in Broadcastings

Article 4. Member Organizations and their members must give prior notice to IKYF in the case that they are asked for appearances or participation in broadcasting, round-table discussions and other events that directly reflects on the IKYF. As a consequence, the IKYF may prohibit such appearances or participation where it determines it is inappropriate. The above does not apply to media coverage of local events within member organizations.

Joint Organization and Sponsorship for Competitions

Article 5. Member Organizations of the IKYF may organize competitions and other events with other organizers or sponsors. They must have prior approval by the IKYF for commercial promotion using such competitions. Use of programs or posters of competitions is not subject to such approval.

2. Basically, the awards given by the competitions related to Member Organizations of IKYF are trophies, cups or medals. Supplementary prizes shall be the items which do not harm the dignity of the competitions and are not used for commercial purposes.

Compliance with Regulations

Article 6. Officers of the IKYF shall always emphasize dignity and honor, and act as a model for Member Organizations and their members.

IKYF may give warnings and prohibit Member Organizations or their members from participation in projects organized by IKYF in the case that the organization or members are against the regulations.

Additional clause

1. This regulation shall be effective as of May 2nd, 2006.
2. July 24th amendment in 2012

規 約

国際弓道連盟

国際弓道連盟規約

第1章 総則

名称

第1条 本連盟は国際弓道連盟(以下「国際弓連」という)と称する。
英文名では International kyudo Federation(略称 IKYF)とする。

構成

第2条 国際弓連は、各国を代表する唯一の国内弓道統括団体(以下「加盟団体」という)によって構成される。

所在地

第3条 国際弓連の事務局は、日本国東京都渋谷区神南1丁目1番1号に置く。

使用言語

第4条 国際弓連の公式言語は、日本語および英語とし、技術用語は日本語を使用する。
全ての文書などで英語版との間に相違がある場合には、日本語版を優先する。

性格

第5条 国際弓連は、弓道を愛好する非政治的な団体であって、人種、性別、宗教、信条その他による如何なる差別をも認めない。

第2章 目的及び事業

主旨および目的

第6条 国際弓連は、伝統的な日本文化としての弓道を通じて、弓道の最高目標である「真、善、美」を追求し、もって人格の形成を志す弓道人の養成を目的とする。さらに全世界にわたって弓道の普及と振興を図り平和な社会の実現を目指すとともに、加盟団体相互の信頼と友情を培うことを目的とする。

事業

第7条 国際弓連は、前条の主旨および目的を達成するために、次の事業を行う。

- (1) 弓道の国際競技規則の制定
- (2) 世界弓道選手権大会の開催および大会参加の推進
- (3) 各国における弓道の普及振興の支援
- (4) 各国の弓道連盟組織の発展に対する支援
- (5) 講習会、研修会などの開催および支援
- (6) 用具、指導書、技術問題等の情報交換ならびに機関誌の発行
- (7) 財団法人全日本弓道連盟(以下「全弓連」)が施行する審査受審の推進
- (8) その他前条の目的達成に必要な事業

第3章 加盟、脱退、除名

加盟資格

第8条 国際弓連へ加盟しようとする団体は、別に定める国際弓連加盟および除名に関する細則第1条を満たしていなければならない。

この細則は補足1としてこの規約に付記される。

加盟申請

第9条 加盟申請は、別に定める細則に基づき行われなければならない。

この細則は補足1としてこの規約に付記される。

加盟審査

第10条 国際弓連が前条の申請を受理したときは、加盟申請を行った団体(以下「申請団体」という)について別に定める資格要件などを調査し、理事会で加盟の可否について審議する。

2 前項に基づく加盟の可否の結果については、その後最初に開催される総会に報告し、承認を得なければならない。

加盟団体への登録

第11条 国際弓連の加盟団体に登録する会員は、重複して登録できない。個人がその居住国の加盟団体以外の加盟団体に入会することを希望する場合には、両加盟団体の相互合意をもってなされなければならない。

脱退の手続

第12条 加盟団体が国際弓連からの脱退を希望するときは、文書による届出を国際弓連に提出しなければならない。

2 前項に規定する届出を国際弓連が受理した日をもって、当該加盟団体は国際弓連を脱退したものとみなされる。この場合、当該加盟団体の脱退は、その後、最初に開かれる理事会および総会に報告するものとする。

3 納入された会費は、理由の如何にかかわらず返還しない。

除名の申立

第13条 加盟団体が細則に定める除名申立事由に該当する場合は、国際弓連に対して文書により当該団体の除名を申し立てることができる。

この細則は補足1としてこの規約に付記される。

除名の審議

第14条 国際弓連は、前条に定める除名の申立を受理した場合は、関係者から速やかに事情聴取するなど実情を調査し、当該加盟団体の除名の可否を理事会において審議の上、決定する。

2 前項に基づき除名を決定した理事会の審議結果は、その後最初に開かれる総会で報告し、その3分の2以上の承認を得て成立する。

第4章 機関

総会の構成

第15条 総会は理事・監事および各加盟団体代表者ならびに当該加盟団体会長が委任する者をもって構成し、議長は国際弓連会長もしくは会長が指名する者とする。
なお、名誉役員も出席する事ができる。

総会の開催

第16条 定期総会の開催は2年に1回とする。
2 総会の開催場所は本部事務局がある日本国内とする。
とくに申請があった場合は理事会で協議のうえ、開催場所を決定する。
3 総会は、会長が緊急と判断した場合は、電子メールでの会議を開催できる。

総会の成立

第17条 総会は理事および各加盟団体代表者の構成総数員の過半数の出席により成立する。ただし、名誉役員および監事を除く。
2 加盟団体代表者が欠席する場合は、当該加盟団体会長が委任する者を代理人として出席させることができる。
3 議案は、議決権を有する出席構成員の過半数により決し、可否同数の場合は議長が決する。
総会における議決権数は、理事と各加盟団体代表者(代理人を含む)各1人につき1議決権とする。

総会

第18条 総会は国際弓連の最高決議機関で、次の議案を審議する。

- (1) 規約の改正
- (2) 事業計画
- (3) 予算および決算
- (4) 理事・監事の選出
- (5) 加盟および除名に関する事項
- (6) その他重要事項

臨時総会の開催

第19条 臨時総会の開催については会長の要請に基づき、もしくは理事の3分の1以上の書面による要請があれば開催することができる。
この場合、招集は少なくとも2ヶ月前までに加盟団体に議題を添えて通知しなければならない。
2 臨時総会は、会長が緊急と判断した場合は、電子メールでの会議を開催できる。

理事会の構成

第20条 理事会は、理事をもって構成し、会長が議長となる。

理事会の開催

第21条 理事会は、会長が招集し、毎年1回定期的に定時理事会を、その他必要に応じ臨時理事会を開催できる。

- 2 理事会構成員の過半数の要請があった場合は、会長は理事会を招集しなければならない。
- 3 理事会はあらかじめ構成員の過半数の合意を得た場合に限り、書面審議あるいは電子メールによって議決を行った場合は、その後最初に開かれる理事会にその経過を報告しなければならない。
- 4 理事会は、会長が緊急と判断した場合は、電子メールでの会議を開催できる。

理事会の成立

第 22 条 理事会は理事総数の過半数の出席により成立する。

- 2 議案は、出席理事の過半数により決し、可否同数の場合は議長が決する。
- 3 理事会への代理人の出席は認めない。ただし、欠席者は、書面あるいは電子メールにより意見の表明ができる。

理事会

第 23 条 理事会は総会に提案する次の事項を審議する。

- (1) 規約の改正
- (2) 事業計画
- (3) 予算および決算
- (4) 総会から付託された事項
- (5) 加盟および除名に関する事項
- (6) その他重要事項

- 2 総会で決議を要する事項のうち、緊急を要する場合は理事会で決議することができるが、その後最初に開催される総会にその経過を報告しなければならない。

委員会

第 24 条 国際弓連の目的を遂行するために、委員会を置くことができる。

委員会の設置

第 25 条 委員会の設置、および委員会についての必要な事項は理事会において定める。

第 5 章 役員

役員

第 26 条 国際弓連には、次の役員を置く

- | | |
|-----|-------------------|
| 会長 | 1 名 |
| 副会長 | 3 名以内 |
| 理事 | 20 名以内（会長・副会長を除く） |
| 監事 | 3 名 |

役員を選出

第 27 条 会長は、理事会で推薦し、総会で選任する。

副会長は理事の中から選任する。会長は就任と同時に理事になるものとする。

会長を除く理事は次の各号による。

- (1) 加盟各国から推薦された者
日本 7 名、欧州 3 名、米国 2 名、アジアオセアニア 1 名
- (2) 会長が推薦した者 3 名

- (3) 会長が推薦した学識経験者若干名
監事は、理事会で推薦し総会で決議する。
監事は他の役員を兼ねることはできない。

名誉役員

第 28 条 国際弓連に次の名誉職を置くことができる。名誉役員は弓道功労者および学識経験者のうちから理事会で選出し、総会で承認を得る。

- (1) 名誉総裁
- (2) 名誉会長
- (3) 顧問
- (4) 参与

名誉職にある者は、会長の諮問に応じ、国際弓連の運営に意見を述べることができる。

役員の仕事

第 29 条

役員の仕事は次の通りとする。

- (1) 会長は国際弓連を代表し、これを統括する。
- (2) 副会長は会長を補佐し、会長事故あるときはあらかじめ会長が定めた順序において会長の仕事を代行する。
- (3) 理事は理事会の構成員としてその仕事を遂行する。
- (4) 監事は国際弓連の会計とその他の会務を監査し、監査報告を作成し総会に提出する。

役員の任期及び補充

第 30 条

- (1) 役員の任期はすべて 4 年とし、再任は妨げないものとする。
- (2) 役員が死亡、病気などの事由で仕事が続けられない場合は国際弓連会長が理事会に諮り後任者を任命する。
- (3) ただし、加盟団体から推薦された理事については当該理事が所属する加盟団体代表者またはその当該会長の推薦する者が後任者となる。なお、後任者の任期は前任者の残任期間とする。
- (4) 役員は任期満了後であっても後任者が就任するまでは引き続きその仕事を行う。

役員の更新

第 31 条 会長および副会長は 4 年間の任期を終了した後でなければ再選されることはできない。ただし、副会長が会長に選出される場合はこの限りでない。

第 6 章 財務と会計

財源

第 32 条 国際弓連は、その仕事遂行のため、特別な財源を求めることができるが、理事会へ報告しなければならない。

会計

第 33 条 国際弓連の運用に要する費用は、加盟金、年次会費、寄付金、その他の収入をもってこれに充てる。

加盟金・年次会費

第 34 条 金額については、総会においてこれを定め、納入方法については別に定める細則による。

この細則は補足 1 としてこの規約に付記される。

- 2 各加盟団体が 1 年以上正当な事由なくして会費を滞納した場合は理事会の決議により、当該加盟団体および当該加盟団体に登録する会員の世界弓道選手権大会、講習会、研修会など行事への参加を停止することができる。

会計年度

第 35 条 国際弓連の会計年度は、毎年 4 月 1 日に始まり、翌年 3 月 31 日をもって終わる。

- 2 会長は毎年年度末より 3 ヶ月以内に事業報告および決算について監査を受け、その結果をその後に開かれる定期理事会で報告し、加盟団体に通知するものとする。
- 3 定期理事会で承認された毎年度の決算報告書は、一括して定期総会に提出し、その承認を受ける。

第 7 章 アマチュア規定

アマチュア規定

第 36 条 会員は、いかなる場合でも、弓道を政治的あるいは商業主義的に悪用してはならない。具体的内容については国際弓道連盟アマチュア規程細則による。

この細則は補足 2 としてこの規約に付記される。

第 8 章 環境

環境

第 37 条 国際弓連はスポーツと環境の向上を高めるように努める。

競技用品を含めたりサイクル活動、そして、環境保全に全力を注ぎ、競技施設にも工夫し、環境を汚さない活動を進め、地球環境を保護することを最優先に促進する。

第 9 章 規約の変更および解散

規約の変更と改廃

第 38 条 本規約の変更と改廃は、総会出席者の 3 分の 2 以上の承認を得なければならない。

緊急を要する変更の場合は理事会で決議し、最初にかかれる総会において承認を得なければならない。

解散

第 39 条 国際弓連を解散する場合は、加盟団体の 3 分の 2 以上の承認を受けるものとし、その資産と資金は各加盟団体にその出資額に応じて分配される。

第10章 特別条項

主旨および目的の変更

第40条 第6条の主旨および目的を変更する場合は、総会構成員の全会一致とする。

附 則

1. 世界弓道選手権大会は4年毎に開催する。
大会開催場所・期日・主管する団体は、総会において決定し、大会要項・予算は、主管団体が起案し、理事会において決定する。
2. 弓道競技規則・審査規程・加盟団体および会員などの遵守規程・その他この規約に定めのない事項については、財団法人全日本弓道連盟の定めを準用する。
3. この規約は西暦2006年5月2日より施行する。
4. 2012年7月24日改正

補則 1

国際弓道連盟 加盟および除名に関する規程細則

加盟申請条件

第 1 条 国際弓道連盟規約(以下、規約、という) 第 2 条に規定する「各国を代表する唯一の国内弓道統括団体」とは、当該国に歴史的経緯で複数の統括団体が存在する場合には、オリンピック憲章に則り決定する。

第 2 条 規約第 8 条に定める条件は次の通りとする。

- (1) 当該団体は登録会員を有しており、現在弓道の活動をしていること
- (2) 適格な指導者を有すること
- (3) 国際弓連年会費の支払いができる財政的基盤があり、世界弓道選手権大会への参加を推進することができること
- (4) 加盟を申請する団体は、申請前に国際弓道連盟が認定する当該地域連合(連盟)加盟しなければならない。加盟申請時に地域連合に(連盟)が存在しない場合には、将来、地域連合(連盟)の成立した場合に、それに加盟しなければならない。

加盟申請手続き

第 3 条 規約第 9 条に定める所定の手続きとは、下記書類を提出することをいう。

- (1) 国際弓道連盟加盟申請書(必須)
- (2) 2 加盟団体の推薦書(必須)
- (3) 申請団体の会則などの規約(必須)
- (4) 申請団体の会員登録名簿(必須)
- (5) その他加盟申請審査に必要と思われる参考資料(任意)

加盟申請期限

第 4 条 加盟申請者は、総会で承認を受けるためには、当該総会の開催月から起算して、6 ヶ月前までに、前条に定める書類を提出しなければならない。

加盟申請に関する審査項目

第 5 条 国際弓連は規約第 10 条により下記の各項目について申請団体を調査し、理事会に報告しなければならない。

- (1) 設立、組織に関すること
- (2) 役員に関すること
- (3) 会則などの規約に関すること
- (4) 財政状況に関すること
- (5) 登録会員数、有段者、称号者数に関すること
- (6) 練習などの活動状況に関すること
- (7) 大会、講習会などの参加、実施状況に関すること
- (8) 指導者に関すること
- (9) 申請団体の、その国の認知度に関すること (公的機関との関係について)

なお、必要に応じて代表者の面接を行う場合がある。

加盟金および年次会費の納入方法

第6条 規約第10条で加盟が認められた団体は、国際弓連規約第34条に従い、次の通りその年度内に納入しなければならない。

(1) 加盟金は新加盟する時、国際弓連の指示に従い加盟時期の12月末までに国際弓連に納入する。

*加盟金	10,000円	国内弓道連盟の登録会員数	50名以下
	20,000円	国内弓道連盟の登録会員数	51名～100名
	30,000円	国内弓道連盟の登録会員数	101名以上

(2) 年次会費については、新加盟団体および加盟団体は毎年12月末までに国際弓連に納入する。

*年次会費	10,000円	国内弓道連盟の登録会員数	50名以下
	20,000円	国内弓道連盟の登録会員数	51名～100名
	30,000円	国内弓道連盟の登録会員数	101名以上

除名事由

第7条 国際弓連規約第13条の除名申立事由とは、以下の事項に該当する場合とする。

- (1) 正当な理由なく、年次会費を継続して1年以上滞納した場合
- (2) 弓道の指導と普及が不十分と考えられる場合
- (3) アマチュアに関する諸規程に違反した場合
- (4) 当該加盟団体が国際弓連規約第6条主旨および目的に著しく触れる行為を行った場合
- (5) その他、当該加盟団体の存続がふさわしくないと考えられる場合

補足 2

国際弓道連盟 アマチュア規程細則

趣旨

第1条 この規程は、国際弓道連盟規約(以下「規約」という。)第36条に関するアマチュア規定を定めるものである。

加盟団体

第2条 加盟団体およびその会員は国際オリンピック委員会(以下「IOC」という。)が制定したオリンピック憲章の趣旨を体して、弓道競技の健全な普及発展を図らなければならない。

加盟団体の会員

第3条 国際弓連の加盟団体は、次に掲げる者を会員とすることはできない。なお既に会員であっても、次に該当した場合は、会員としての資格を取り消すことができる。

- (1) 所属する加盟団体の承認を得ず、自らが自分の氏名、写真または競技実績を広告に使うことを許した者
- (2) 加盟団体の事前承認なく競技会の参加準備または参加のために、物質的便益を受けた者
- (3) 授与された賞または副賞を金銭に換えた者
- (4) 国際弓連または加盟団体が禁止した競技会に参加した者
- (5) 競技に際して、とくにドーピングまたは暴力行為などによりフェアプレーの精神に明らかに違反した者
- (6) コーチを職業とした者またはしている者
- (7) 広告を記載した弓道衣または弓具を使用した者あるいは使用させた者
- (8) オリンピック憲章に違反し、競技者として著しく品位または名誉を傷つけた者

放送等に出演の届出

第4条 国際弓連の加盟団体またはその会員が、放送、座談会その他の行事に出演、参加を求められた場合は、あらかじめ国際弓連に届出なければならない。この場合において当該出演などが適当でないとき、これを禁止することができる。ただし、各加盟団体の行事については、この限りではない。

競技会の共催、後援

第5条 国際弓連の加盟団体は、独自でまたは他の団体などを共催者、後援者あるいは協賛者として加え競技会などを開催することができる。なお、競技会を利用して行う商業宣伝は、あらかじめ国際弓連の承認を得なければならない。ただし競技会のプログラム、ポスターを利用する場合は、この限りでない。

- 2 国際弓連の加盟団体に関係する競技会の賞品は、原則としてトロフィー、カップ、メダルなどとする。副賞を授与するときは、競技会の品位を傷つけずかつ宣伝に利用されないものに限る。

規程の遵守

第6条 国際弓盟の役員は、常に品位と名誉を重んじ加盟団体およびその会員の模範となるよう行動しなければならない。

国際弓連は、加盟団体またはその会員がこの規程に違反すると認められた時は、当該団体またはその会員に注意を与え、連盟主催の事業への参加を禁止することができる。

附則

1. この規程は、西暦2006年5月2日から施行する。
2. 2012年7月24日改正